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          1  CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND LIBRARIES COMMITTEES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Good afternoon,

          3  ladies and gentlemen of the three libraries that

          4  make up New York City. It is great to have everyone

          5  here today. We are also joined by my colleague,

          6  Vincent Gentile, who will be making an opening

          7  statement. Today, we are going to investigate the

          8  role of our City's libraries in assisting job

          9  seekers. We are also going to have a vote on

         10  Resolution No. 746, which will designate the week of

         11  April 15 to April 21 as Library Week in New York

         12  City.

         13                 Our three public libraries are among

         14  the largest and most important libraries and

         15  educational institutions in the world. With millions

         16  of visitors a year, and truly an extraordinarily

         17  range of materials available to the general public

         18  at no cost, these facilities really are the great

         19  store houses of knowledge in our City. Libraries

         20  open the entirety of the world's collective

         21  knowledge in learning to the great mass of New

         22  Yorkers. Our libraries are also crucial neighborhood

         23  facilities. Beyond the central research libraries

         24  are hundreds of community branches that offer a wide

         25  array of services and have emerged as vital

                                                            5

          1  CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND LIBRARIES COMMITTEES

          2  community centers.

          3                 The Committee will be looking into

          4  how these branches serve as resources for job

          5  seekers. We will also be adopting Resolution No. 746

          6  by declaring April 15 to 21, library week. This

          7  Council will be taking a big step towards providing

          8  the libraries with the sort of recognition and

          9  support that they richly deserve. I urge my

         10  colleagues to join me in supporting this resolution.

         11  I urge all New Yorkers to visit their libraries next

         12  week and experience all that our three library

         13  systems have to offer and what great systems that

         14  they are.

         15                 I just want to make it very clear

         16  that the speaker has heard what the three systems

         17  need and she is really concentrating and making the

         18  libraries a priority in her response last week. To

         19  have her give the response in a library and hearing

         20  what she is proposing is a step in the right

         21  direction and it also has to do with the great

         22  leadership by the head of our Subcommittee who works

         23  extremely hard, Vincent Gentile. Vinny.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Why thank you,

         25  Mr. Chairman. I appreciate that. Wow. I, too, join
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          2  our Chairman in welcoming everyone. I would like to

          3  thank our, Speaker Quinn and Councilman Recchia, the

          4  Chair of our Cultural Affairs Committee for their

          5  leadership in working, advocating for a full six day

          6  service for our three library systems. As our

          7  Chairman just said, the Speaker last week, announced

          8  in her response to the Mayor's preliminary budget,

          9  her commitment to our City's public library systems.

         10                 Over the next three years, the

         11  Council plans to fund the libraries to levels in

         12  which they would be able to provide full six day

         13  service for all who come to benefit from the

         14  library's vast resources. We know that libraries are

         15  indispensable resources. They can only meet its high

         16  egalitarian goals by being open and accessible to

         17  all. Yet, libraries are not just a place for

         18  checking out a book or surfing the web. They serve

         19  additional purposes and libraries are about

         20  community and coming together.

         21                 Today, we are here to exam one of the

         22  additional resources that the libraries have to

         23  offer. We will be hearing more about New York City

         24  public libraries in their role as a resource for job

         25  seekers. As I said, libraries evolve from a facility
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          2  which you just check out a book and have kept pace

          3  with the advent of technology. When visiting

          4  libraries in all five boroughs, the sight of

          5  computer terminals being utilized are very common.

          6  Seeing visitors from every age demographic is as

          7  encouraging as it is insightful. The library brings

          8  great technology that they offer into their

          9  programming as well. So it will be interesting to

         10  hear from the three systems on that topic of

         11  libraries and resources for job seekers.

         12                 They offer courses that prepare and

         13  assist an individuals who are seeking a job. Many

         14  classes offered are English and second language,

         15  general education development and preparation and

         16  computer skills training. According to the Mayor's

         17  management report, over millions of people attend

         18  libraries, sponsored program sessions over the

         19  years. These programs can prepare individuals for

         20  perspective occupations. The Job Information Center

         21  Program serves further to prepare individuals for

         22  employment. These programs can be resume, cover

         23  letter writing assistance, interview guidance and

         24  vocational training in adult education.

         25                 They also offer hand outs that
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          2  provide information and recommendations regarding

          3  different career paths. It is clear that multi-

          4  faceted impact that these institutions make on our

          5  neighborhoods and our communities and the City as a

          6  whole. As the Chairman also said, we're here to

          7  discuss today also Resolution 746 that will declare

          8  April 15 and celebrate April 15 through April 21,

          9  library week in New York City. In our testimony, for

         10  the benefit of our colleagues, if our panel could

         11  speak about the Resolution first and it will give us

         12  a chance to vote on it and allow our colleagues to

         13  attend to some of their other business. We will ask

         14  you comment on that first.

         15                 I introduce this Resolution to

         16  commemorate our three systems for the tremendous

         17  work that they do and how it transcends as visible

         18  in our communities. National library week was first

         19  celebrated in 1958 by the American Library

         20  Association and has been since marked with special

         21  programming aimed at encouraging continued and

         22  increased uses of our local libraries. In addition,

         23  this week is an unique opportunity in which we will

         24  be able to thank the countless librarians,

         25  volunteers, and other library staff who play such
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          2  vital roles in the intellectual life of our country.

          3  The Brooklyn Public Library, The New York Public

          4  Library and the Queens Borough Public Libraries are

          5  especially deserving of our praise and

          6  acknowledgment.

          7                 New York City's three library systems

          8  has grown into some of the largest and most

          9  important circulating libraries in the world with

         10  208 local branches in all five boroughs, four

         11  central research libraries and well over 65 million

         12  books in other circulating items. And according to

         13  the Mayor's Management Report, New York City's

         14  extensive library system hosts millions of visitors

         15  a year. We are truly indebted to these three systems

         16  for all that they do, to better our communities and

         17  our resolution today is benefitting; albeit it a

         18  small way to commemorate their tremendous

         19  accomplishments.

         20                 I urge my colleagues as Chairman has

         21  just done to vote in favor the measure and urge

         22  everyone to visit their local library or libraries

         23  during National Library Week next week and beyond.

         24  Mr. Chairman, I think we are ready to go.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you, Mr.

                                                            10

          1  CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND LIBRARIES COMMITTEES

          2  Gentile. I'd like to recognize my colleagues who are

          3  here. We have David Weprin, Inez Dickens, Tom White,

          4  Vincent Gentile and myself. Now we will call the

          5  vote on Resolution --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE:  They have to

          7  say something about it first.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: No, we will call

          9  the vote. Everybody has to go places.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Okay.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Don't worry. We

         12  will call the vote. Then we will hear everybody's

         13  testimony. I'm going to hold up for one of my

         14  colleagues. There are 12 hearings on today. I've

         15  been here since early this morning. Call the vote.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member

         17  Recchia.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Aye.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Weprin.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Aye.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gentile.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE. Aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Dickens.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Aye.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: White.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of five in

          4  the affirmative, zero negative, no abstentions, the

          5  item has been adopted. Members, please sign the

          6  Committee Report. Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

          8  much. Thank you, colleagues for showing up for this

          9  vote. Now we will call the three library systems up

         10  to testify.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: And you can

         12  still comment on library week.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: No, you can

         14  still comment. I just didn't want to hold up my

         15  colleagues. Al, do you want to say something about

         16  Library Week? During this hearing, I might have to

         17  go across the street. There is an Educational

         18  Committee going on. I have to vote over there. They

         19  need a quorum over there, so they are going to call

         20  me. Start. Whoever would like to go first. Tom, you

         21  may have to pull that closer. Is it working?

         22                 MR. GALANTE: Good afternoon. My name

         23  is Tom Galante. I'm the Director of the Queens

         24  Library. I want to begin by thanking Chairman

         25  Recchia and Gentile and the Council Members here
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          2  today for their continued dedication to the cause of

          3  public libraries. I would also like to thank Speaker

          4  Quinn for recognizing the importance of a full six-

          5  day library service schedule in her budget response

          6  last Thursday. Our Queens Delegation led by Council

          7  Member Leroy Comrie are true champions of libraries

          8  and the life- enhancing services that we provide.

          9  Thank you for inviting us here today to speak about

         10  libraries as a resource for job seekers.

         11                 For many City residents, free

         12  libraries are the only and best affordable job

         13  training, college prep, senior recreation, civil

         14  service test prep, homework help, after school

         15  enrichment, adult literacy, or English classes

         16  around. Your library is the favorite access point to

         17  computers and the Internet for many of our

         18  residents. Workshops for adults to learn basic

         19  computer skills, the skills everyone needs to live

         20  and work in the world today, are filled to the

         21  maximum. And if we want students to be successful in

         22  school and job ready, we need to provide the tools

         23  they need to complete school assignments. There's no

         24  going back to make it up later. School kids who

         25  aren't encouraged to love reading or who don't get
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          2  needed help with homework are quite possibly gone

          3  for good.

          4                 It is no secret that Queens is one of

          5  the most ethnically diverse regions throughout the

          6  entire United States. According to the U.S. Census

          7  Bureau, Queens currently has 2,255,175 residents

          8  from 191 countries speaking 161 languages. Queens

          9  Library serves as the first stop for many newly

         10  arrived immigrants and learning to speak, read and

         11  write English is the very first step in seeking

         12  meaningful employment in this country.

         13                 A few examples of job readiness

         14  programs offered in languages other than English

         15  include, How to Start a Business, which is geared

         16  towards women and Job Strategies for immigrant

         17  professionals. The highly popular Business Basics

         18  workshop, co-sponsored with the Queens Economic

         19  Development Corporation is a quarterly program that

         20  could be given bi-monthly or monthly if funding were

         21  available. The Business of Arts for New Americans,

         22  co-sponsored with the New York Foundation for the

         23  Arts, assists immigrants in finding jobs in the

         24  arts.

         25                 Our ESOL program are offered in all
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          2  our community libraries and they are beneficial in

          3  helping to bridge the language divide. Last year, we

          4  had over 3,000 students attend one of the 100 ESOL

          5  classes throughout the borough. Our six adult

          6  learning centers complete with full- time

          7  professional staff and volunteers are able to work

          8  with smaller concentrated groups of students, as

          9  well as providing individual attention as needed.

         10  These groups also have job readiness conversations

         11  that provide further information to our students on

         12  how to find a job and how to conduct oneself on an

         13  interview.

         14                 According to figures based on the

         15  2000 US Census Sample Data, 14.1 percent of Queen's

         16  households report income below the poverty line. The

         17  top three Queens neighborhoods with household

         18  incomes below the poverty level are Queensbridge,

         19  Arverne and South Jamaica. Our libraries in each of

         20  these three neighborhoods are virtual lifelines to

         21  those seeking to escape poverty. According to New

         22  York State Labor Department, as of February 2007,

         23  Queens' unemployment was 4.5 percent, relatively low

         24  unless you are among that 4.5 percent.

         25                 While we are not in the business of
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          2  directly providing jobs outside of one applying for

          3  a position at the library, we empower and equip our

          4  customers with information and the skills to seek a

          5  better life through employment. We cannot erase

          6  poverty or unemployment, but libraries can and do

          7  serve customers who are unemployed, changing

          8  professions, first time job seekers, budding

          9  entrepreneurs and the disabled.

         10                 A 2006 Federal Reserve Bank of New

         11  York report indicated that there are 100,000 few

         12  private jobs since the September 11 terrorist

         13  attacks. While businesses slowly make their way back

         14  to New York, we need to equip our residents to be

         15  able to aggressively compete in an every changing

         16  business climate. Education and thorough

         17  preparation, key strategies at the Queens Library

         18  employs for our job information centers located at

         19  the Central and Flushing libraries will yield strong

         20  and successful leaders.

         21                 Our knowledgeable and friendly staff

         22  at the Central Library Job Information Center guided

         23  nearly 25,000 people through the job hunting process

         24  last year. We partner with New York Cares in

         25  conducting monthly workshops entitled, Polish your
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          2  Resume, in conducting an Internet job search. Job

          3  seekers can also take the self- assessment test,

          4  discover your career potential. This test helps to

          5  demonstrate the test takers most suitable profession

          6  or industry given their personality and skill sets.

          7  Other services offered to job seekers are faxing

          8  customers resumes, posting weekly available jobs

          9  (both internal and external), and personally

         10  reviewing cover letters.

         11                 Our Central Library located in

         12  downtown Jamaica operates a satellite library aimed

         13  at assisting job seekers in conjunction with Work

         14  Force One out of the New York Department of Labor

         15  Office. Nearly 10,000 people utilize this resource

         16  last year as they sought employment. Of course, we

         17  will be better able to serve those who need us the

         18  most when we are open more days and hours. A library

         19  that is closed cannot help someone looking for a

         20  job. We continue to seek restoration of $11.3

         21  million that would help restore the many job

         22  assistance programs service and workshops that we

         23  cannot today as a result of budget cuts.

         24                 We take our role as a resource for

         25  job seekers very seriously. We continue to do all we
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          2  can to educate and train the workforce of tomorrow.

          3  Libraries are much more than just a repository for

          4  books. We are vital part of the economic engine that

          5  drives New York City. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Tom, the

          7  testimony that you gave us incomplete. We are

          8  missing a page.

          9                 MR. GALANTE: Oh.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: That's okay. You

         11  just get it to us.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Our Chairman,

         13  kept saying, I thought he was done.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: We are missing

         15  pages.

         16                 MR. GALANTE: I will leave you this

         17  one.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Before we move

         19  on to the next speaker, I'd like to recognize Eric

         20  Gioia and give him the floor to vote.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Chairs. I would like to vote yes and please excuse

         23  me, I have a piece of legislation that I sponsored

         24  is being heard across the street, so I will be over

         25  there. Thank you very much. Thank you all for what
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          2  you do.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Can you just say

          4  you vote --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Oh, I thought I

          6  said yes. And I vote yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And please sign

          8  the sheet for the record.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Yes, sir. Thank

         10  you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Mr. Gentile.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Mr. Chairman,

         13  before we go to the next presentation, I just want

         14  for the record just clarify, Mr. Galante, the Queens

         15  Public Library is in favor of this resolution.

         16  Correct?

         17                 MR. GALANTE: We are very much in

         18  favor of this resolution.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Very good.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Dionne Mack

         21  Harvin, Brooklyn Public Library.

         22                 MS. HARVIN: Good afternoon. My name

         23  is Dionne Mack Harvin, Executive Director of

         24  Brooklyn Public Library. I would like to thank

         25  Chairman Recchia and Gentile for offering BPL the
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          2  chance to testify today on how Brooklyn Public

          3  Library serves as a resource for job seekers. Before

          4  I move forward, I want to say to thank you for

          5  Resolution 746 and we are so happy to be part of

          6  witnessing history today. It is really great to see

          7  the Council's ongoing support in recognition of

          8  libraries of library workers and profession as a

          9  whole. Thank you.

         10                 As New York City Council Speaker

         11  Quinn mentioned last Thursday during her response to

         12  the preliminary budget, the Council is focused on

         13  providing New Yorkers with the tools they need to

         14  thrive and to protect the gains made by those

         15  beginning to succeed. Brooklyn Public Library,

         16  through its multi- pronged approach to offering

         17  resources to job seekers, provides many New Yorkers

         18  with the tools they need to better themselves. My

         19  testimony today is going to focus on a few of the

         20  things we do to assist Brooklynites in their effort

         21  to find a job and to build businesses.

         22                 Every neighborhood library really

         23  functions as a de facto job center as this is the

         24  first place many Brooklynites turn when seeking a

         25  job or a new career. With free Internet and Wi-Fi
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          2  access, job seekers can conduct on- line searches

          3  for job listings, or simply pick up a copy of the

          4  daily newspaper or look through the employment

          5  listings. The BPL website contains numerous

          6  resources, links to career and job information for

          7  job seekers and those exploring new careers.

          8                 We also provide access to

          9  LearningExpress Library, an on-line tool which

         10  offers preparation for career placement and civil

         11  service exams, assistance in writing effective

         12  resumes and cover letters and interview skills.

         13  LearningExpress also offers refresher courses in

         14  math and writing. We are also one of the largest

         15  employers in Brooklyn, including a part- time work

         16  force of nearly 700. Most of the part- time

         17  employees are teens who gain their first work

         18  experience at their neighborhood library. They often

         19  build on that experience to become full- time

         20  library employees.

         21                 If a candidate is seeking more

         22  resources than are available on-line or at their

         23  local library, they turn to the Education and Job

         24  Information Center located the Central Library at

         25  Grand Army Plaza. The Education and Job Information
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          2  Center serves as the focal point of the Library's

          3  efforts to assist job seekers. At the Center,

          4  specially trained librarians provide access to a

          5  wealth of print and on-line materials to help job

          6  seekers and students to succeed.

          7                 The Center has created a series of

          8  guides, available in print and on-line, that direct

          9  job seekers to employment and training resources and

         10  students to test taking and financial aid resources.

         11  In addition, the Center has an extensive collection

         12  of books and other resources on job training and

         13  educational programs; including a large collection

         14  of civil service exam books and prep books for the

         15  General Education Development certificate test.

         16                 More than 300 Brooklynites come

         17  through the Centers doors on an average weekday and

         18  more than 10,000 are served annually through its

         19  program sessions. But we know there is an even a

         20  greater need for this kind of service in Brooklyn.

         21  We are pleased that the United States Department of

         22  Labor has recognized the value of the Center's work

         23  and recently awarded the Library a $500,000 grant

         24  through the Education and Training Administration to

         25  expand the Center's current offerings. We have

                                                            22

          1  CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND LIBRARIES COMMITTEES

          2  designed the Skills Training and Employment Project,

          3  or S.T.E.P to make the Center's current services

          4  available at two additional locations: The Business

          5  Library in downtown Brooklyn and the Marcy Branch in

          6  Bedford Stuyvesant.

          7                 Also through S.T.E.P, we are working

          8  to strengthen existing partnerships with local job

          9  training organizations like Workforce One, the

         10  Brooklyn Educational Opportunity Center and the

         11  Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce Good Help Program to

         12  connect job seekers with the agency and resources

         13  that best fits their needs. Finally, the Department

         14  of Labor grant will allow us to significantly expand

         15  the Center's presence on the website, purchase

         16  additional resources like Ferguson's Career Guidance

         17  Center, a tremendous on- line resource and make some

         18  of its materials available in Spanish for the first

         19  time.

         20                 Perhaps one of the most important

         21  aspects of our work with job seekers is to allow

         22  those with the basic prerequisites for a decent job,

         23  a high school diploma or a GED certificate or the

         24  ability to speak English to gain those skills. To

         25  assist in this effort, the Library maintains a
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          2  network of five Adult Learning Centers throughout

          3  the borough, which offers volunteer led adult basic

          4  education and literacy classes and staff led

          5  training to prepare for the GED and classes for

          6  English of speakers of other languages.

          7                 In fiscal year 2006, volunteers

          8  provided more than 16,500 hours of instruction to

          9  literacy students who spent more than 50,000 hours

         10  at the Literacy Centers. In 2006, BPL served more

         11  than 250 pre-GED students and 650 ESOL students.

         12  ESOL registration has more than doubled in fiscal

         13  year 2007 and pre-GED registration has shown

         14  substantial growth as well. We know this work makes

         15  a dramatic difference in the lives of Brooklynites

         16  because they gain the skills needed to maneuver

         17  through a print oriented, technology rich society

         18  and begin to achieve their personal family and work

         19  related goals.

         20                 Finally, I want to spend a moment

         21  talking about the work we do at the Business Library

         22  in downtown Brooklyn to those with dreams of

         23  starting a new business or expanding on existing

         24  one. The Business Library provides a huge selection

         25  of specialized print resources and with on- line
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          2  subscriptions, access to thousands of additional

          3  databases and periodicals, for business owners and

          4  entrepreneurs. We also maintain active partnerships

          5  with organizations like SCORE which is Service Core

          6  of Retired Executives, whose members assist budding

          7  entrepreneurs.

          8                 One of the most popular programs we

          9  offer at the Business Library, Council Member

         10  Gentile was able to participate in that program with

         11  us last year, is called Power-Up Your Business

         12  Starts Here competition and it is sponsored by

         13  Citigroup Foundation. This competition, now in its

         14  fourth year, gives entrepreneurs the opportunity to

         15  strengthen their business knowledge, learn about

         16  business trends and gain insights about starting or

         17  growing a business as they are introduced to using

         18  the resources of the Business Library.

         19                 In addition, all participants receive

         20  specialized instructions on writing a business plan,

         21  financing, marketing and building a business. Last

         22  year, more than 200 participants registered and 45

         23  submitted completed business plans to Power- Up.

         24  Winners, who submit business plans with the greater

         25  chance of success receive cash prizes of between
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          2  $5,000 and $15,000 to help build their businesses.

          3  All of the winners for the first year's competition

          4  in 2004 are now operating successful businesses and

          5  many of the more recent winners have started their

          6  businesses too.

          7                 We know that small business are the

          8  backbone of Brooklyn's neighborhoods and

          9  traditionally have provided the greatest opportunity

         10  for quick advancement. We are pleased that the

         11  Business Library's partnership with Citigroup

         12  Foundation and all of the work we do there, allow

         13  entrepreneurs the opportunity to make their small

         14  businesses succeed.

         15                 Thank you for providing the Library

         16  with the opportunity to discuss its efforts to help

         17  job seekers. We know that our efforts at

         18  neighborhood libraries, at the Education and Job

         19  Information Center, at our Adult Learning Centers

         20  and at the Business Library provide Brooklynites

         21  from all backgrounds and with varying skills and

         22  educational levels, the opportunity to advance their

         23  career opportunities. I'll be happy to answer any

         24  questions you may have.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very
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          2  much. Before we hear the New York Public Library's

          3  system with their testimony, I'd like to give Dan

          4  Garodnick, the Council Member from Manhattan, who

          5  has a hearing very shortly, the opportunity to vote

          6  and to sign the paper. Mr. Garodnick.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Thank you

          8  very much for your indulgence, Mr. Chairman. I vote

          9  aye. Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you for

         11  supporting the Resolution for Library Week next

         12  week. We greatly appreciate it. New York Public

         13  Library System.

         14                 MR. LECLERC: Thank you very much.

         15  Chairman Recchia and Chairman Gentile --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Hold on.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: You have

         18  one of my issues coming before your Committee. You

         19  know I support that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Good, got it.

         21                 MR. LECLERC: It is like the peaceable

         22  kingdom here. Members of the Council, thank you very

         23  much for inviting me. My name is Paul LeClerc. I am

         24  the President and Chief Executive Officer of the New

         25  York Public Library. I am joined at this testimony
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          2  by colleague, Mary Francis Cooper (phonetic) who is

          3  the Deputy Director of the Branch Library System

          4  within The New York Public Library. I'm ecstatic

          5  about your Resolution. It is one of the single best

          6  resolutions I have ever seen coming out of the

          7  Council. It is absolutely wonderful.

          8                 I would like to thank all you

          9  personally for the enormous amount of advocacy that

         10  you have done on behalf of the libraries and

         11  obviously to thank the distinguished Speaker of the

         12  City Council for the position that she took on

         13  getting all libraries open six days a week across

         14  all five boroughs. It is a remarkable accomplishment

         15  on all of our part to get this far. We have to hope

         16  when the final budget conclusions reach their end,

         17  when the final budget negotiations reach their

         18  conclusion that we will have an universal commitment

         19  on the part of the City government to have all of

         20  the libraries open six days a week as we had before

         21  9/11.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: You know, I just

         23  want you to know that a large part of this has to

         24  come at what transpired at the hearing and I just

         25  have to thank the Bloomberg Administration for
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          2  listening and for sending their representatives

          3  there. Because word got back how this is a priority

          4  and the Speaker really took the ball and moved on

          5  this.

          6                 MR. LECLERC: Well, hearings are a

          7  very meaningful experiences.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: They really are.

          9                 MR. LECLERC: They are.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: As I think we go

         11  along, our hearings become much more effective and

         12  people are listening.

         13                 MR. LECLERC: I agree.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: We keep on

         15  making the libraries a very important part of this

         16  Committee. I think that's why we need the

         17  subcommittee on this because it really is something

         18  that is very dear to all elected officials and

         19  especially to the people of the City. We have to

         20  focus more on this. That is why we keep on in close

         21  consultation, not only with the three library

         22  systems, with the unions involved, with the people

         23  in the communities and we are hearing all the needs.

         24  If we as elected officials can't make it a priority,

         25  then no one else can make it a priority. That is why
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          2  your testimony is very important. Sorry for

          3  interrupting.

          4                 MR. LECLERC: All the hands are

          5  joining together and whoever had the initial idea of

          6  having a separate Committee devoted to only

          7  libraries, we have to be very grateful to that

          8  person because that was a stroke of genius. It

          9  really was. Now when I was a boy in parochial school

         10  in Queens, we were taught that God is omnipresent. I

         11  have to say that it appears that the Chairman of the

         12  Library Committee is omnipresent. Because he is at

         13  libraries at all the times. He runs up to Albany to

         14  testify on behalf of library funding.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: He loves going

         16  up to that trip. It is coming back home for him.

         17                 MR. LECLERC: It is just terrific. And

         18  I want to thank him personally as well on our

         19  behalf. Let me begin with an anecdote. All of us

         20  have countless numbers of people whose career

         21  aspirations we are serving in a very meaningful

         22  kinds of ways. Not often do we get to track either

         23  by accident or by design what happens to these

         24  folks. Let me tell just one story. This was

         25  published in a national library magazine.
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          2                 There was an individual who some

          3  years ago was working in New York and came to the

          4  Mid- Manhattan Library and wanted some counseling

          5  from one of our librarians about getting a job in

          6  the social services sector in Illinois. This

          7  librarian and this is before the days of lots and

          8  lots of databases, showed him all these reference

          9  books that listed various social service agencies in

         10  that state and helped him choose which ones to write

         11  too to apply for jobs.

         12                 He gives this particular librarian

         13  the credit for helping him get the kind of job that

         14  he needed at the time. So he wrote to these places.

         15  One of them came through for him. His name is Barack

         16  Obama. He gives credit fully in this interview when

         17  he was asked what libraries have done for him for

         18  the kind of job counseling he got in New York City.

         19  It happened to be the New York Public Library, which

         20  I am very proud of. But it could have been at any of

         21  our libraries because this is what we do on a daily

         22  basis for thousands of people.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: This is going to

         24  be my fun fact of the day.

         25                 MR. LECLERC: That was before any talk
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          2  of presidential aspirations and this came out before

          3  he was a candidate or anything like that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: It just hit me.

          5  He is stealing my story.

          6                 MR. LECLERC: I saw that. We will

          7  confer before the next hearing so we won't steal

          8  each other's story.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: That's okay.

         10                 MR. LECLERC: Our City's public

         11  library obviously provide tremendous resources for

         12  those who are looking for jobs today. From books and

         13  from access to databases for researching potential

         14  employers and on- line test preparation for

         15  professional licensing and certification

         16  examinations to resume writing classes and computer

         17  training courses, public libraries offer assistance

         18  at every level and, as with everything that we do

         19  within the City's public libraries, we provide these

         20  services to our people absolutely for free with

         21  nothing asked back from them in exchange.

         22                 The New York Public Library itself

         23  offers extensive services to New Yorkers embarking

         24  on a job search. We offer free English language

         25  courses for those who's native language is other
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          2  than English. We provide extensive computer training

          3  from basic word processing and Excel classes to more

          4  advanced Internet search classes and database

          5  training. We offer assistance with resume writing,

          6  with interviewing skills and with networking.

          7                 I talked with one of our libraries at

          8  the Bronx Library Center who does this kind of work

          9  for us and she even coaches individuals on how to

         10  dress for an interview; what kind of jewelry not to

         11  wear and how to comb their hair and so on and so

         12  forth. We offer assistance with the resume writing

         13  as I said. At our Job Information Center, which is

         14  located the Mid- Manhattan Library, here in this

         15  borough, our patrons can use DISCOVER, a computer

         16  based career training program that based on

         17  information provided by users, identifies job

         18  categories of potential interest to them as well as

         19  information about schools and training institutions

         20  with financial aid in scholarship opportunities.

         21                 We also provide specialized services

         22  for those re-entering the work force, partnering

         23  with the American Association of Retired Persons

         24  (AARP) who give us volunteers to provide job

         25  coaching and counseling services tailored to job
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          2  seekers over 50. And, in every one of our 86

          3  branches, job seekers will find lots of reference

          4  books about preparing for job search; but

          5  importantly, they will find a trained librarian

          6  ready to help them locate the information that will

          7  best help them in their job search.

          8                 Once patrons have armed themselves

          9  with the skills necessary to find a job in their

         10  chosen field, the Library can help them identify

         11  potential employers to whom they can go to try to

         12  get that job. Our Science, Industry and Business

         13  Library offers access to more than 200 proprietary

         14  databases that can be used not only to find out

         15  everything there is to know about a potential

         16  employer, but also to identify key contacts in the

         17  field or to create mailing lists for letters of

         18  inquiry to potential employers. SIBL, as we call

         19  this Library, also offers a class entitled,

         20  Companies and Contacts: Creating Customized Lists,

         21  that teaches the skills needed to build contact

         22  lists using our database and approximately 1,000

         23  people a year attend this class alone.

         24                 The Job Information Center has

         25  information on job opportunities in various fields,
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          2  from careers in healthcare to the performing arts.

          3  The Center has countless research guides to identify

          4  potential jobs for New Yorkers who are seeking them

          5  and we make sure that they have every advantage once

          6  they land an interview. We offer a program at the

          7  Center titled, Tackling the Job Market and

          8  Outclassing the Competition, when you get to the

          9  interview stage.

         10                 We also offer on- line test

         11  preparation materials and interactive practice exams

         12  to help people improve their scores on professional

         13  licensing and certification, academic, civil service

         14  and military exams. The civil service exams came up

         15  in our last testimony when Mr. Comrie talked about

         16  how great are the advantages were to people

         17  preparing for civil service exams in libraries that

         18  have more hours than we do. Use of this particular

         19  database is free and accessible at any of our

         20  libraries or even from home with a library card

         21  through the Internet.

         22                 If a patron decides that he or she

         23  wants to strike out on his or her own and start a

         24  business, The New York Public Library can also help.

         25  Sponsored by the US Small Business Association, the
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          2  Service Corps of Retired Executives Association or

          3  SCORE offers free, one- on- one counseling to those

          4  interested in starting a small business. SCORE

          5  services are offered in our selected branches and in

          6  our research libraries.

          7                 SIBL, The Science, Industry and

          8  Business Library has trained over 60,000 people,

          9  including Sean Sabol, the developer of a profit

         10  called Detail Devils, a portable motorcycle cleaning

         11  kit and he is doing very well on that. In a New York

         12  Times profile on this fellow, Sean credits the

         13  library for helping him find all the resources he

         14  needed to start his own business and through

         15  research at the Library, he identified a business

         16  partner that is manufacturing and distributing his

         17  kits across the country, with hopes of expanding to

         18  Australia and Brazil. If you see a hot motorcycle in

         19  your district with a great detailing on it, it could

         20  be that that product was developed in our library.

         21                 Public libraries are in the business

         22  of empowerment. We give people the tools and the

         23  information that they need to succeed and whether

         24  the goal is to learn to read and write in English,

         25  to learn spoken English, to acquire new computer
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          2  skills, to prepare for and complete professional

          3  certification examinations or to explore new

          4  business venture, you can find what you need free of

          5  charge at our New York City's great public

          6  libraries.

          7                 This Committee has always known the

          8  importance of libraries in our communities and in

          9  fact, today we are delighted to support the

         10  consideration and the vote that the Committee has

         11  taken on declaring next week as Library Week in New

         12  York City. We are thrilled that our libraries will

         13  have their own week recognized by you, our very,

         14  very good friends.

         15                 I will close as I began, with thanks

         16  to the Council for making full six- day service a

         17  priority for fiscal 2008. I appreciate this

         18  opportunity enormously, as I always do, to appear

         19  before you with testimony and to answer any

         20  questions that you may have. Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I want to thank

         22  you, Mr. LeClerc. I want to thank all three of you

         23  for testifying here today. It is greatly

         24  appreciated. I will leave the questioning up to my

         25  colleague, Vinny Gentile, because I have to get to
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          2  two places to vote. I think Gov Ops and Education

          3  Committee. I will ask that you excuse me, and I want

          4  to thank you all for coming here today.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: And they tell us

          6  we are not busy enough. Right? I too want to thank

          7  all three systems for coming today. The leader

          8  systems, the staff, everyone for really the

          9  cooperative effort that we have made. I think that

         10  the cooperative effort amongst the three systems has

         11  been there for a while. But it has been up to now

         12  some type of a disconnect on a continuing basis with

         13  local government. Hopefully, we are bridging some of

         14  that gap over the last two years, year and a half. I

         15  don't know how much time it has been. But whatever

         16  the time is.

         17                 I had some questions though that I

         18  was thinking of as you were speaking. Each borough,

         19  each system I should say, has a business library. Am

         20  I correct about that? No, Queens, you don't. Okay.

         21                 MR. GALANTE: Each library has a

         22  business section.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Business

         24  section. Okay. I guess maybe the question I have is

         25  more centered toward Brooklyn and the New York
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          2  systems. When is that somebody might decide or

          3  realize that the local branch is not giving them all

          4  that they need; that they should go to a business

          5  library. At what point do people realize or how do

          6  you get people to realize maybe you should go to the

          7  business library to get more resources.

          8                 MS. COOPER: Well, I can speak to that

          9  from the Manhattan perspective.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Right.

         11                 MS. COOPER: Certainly one of the

         12  important aspects of that is making sure that our

         13  staff in the neighborhood libraries are aware of

         14  what's available at the business library and can

         15  judge in their dealings with a person who comes into

         16  the library, whether or not it is going to be

         17  appropriate to refer them. Now we also are aware

         18  that some people will accept this referral and go

         19  forward and some people are comfortable staying in

         20  their neighborhood. So our staff has to be very

         21  creative in making sure that individual still gets

         22  their needs meet and that may mean requesting

         23  certain information from the Business Library to be

         24  sent out to the local library for the individual.

         25                 A lot of people make that
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          2  determination on their own. They are very focused

          3  and they know what they need. A lot of people go

          4  into our database and into our catalog and identify

          5  items that they know will meet their needs on their

          6  own or in conjunction with our staff and then

          7  realize that they are going to have to make this

          8  trip. But, I think, what our goal is, is to try to

          9  work with an individual wherever they are and try to

         10  get them through whatever means works for that

         11  person to the place that is going to get their

         12  question answered. Sometimes that means working hard

         13  at the local level to do that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Is that about

         15  the same situation, Brooklyn, that the local whether

         16  it be librarians or experts have to know what's

         17  available at the Business Library?

         18                 MS. HARVIN: There is some indication

         19  in the library catalog to let you know where a

         20  certain materials may be located and I think she

         21  alluded to that too. If there is a specific topic,

         22  it will say only Business Library or only Central

         23  Library. But we do make an effort to make sure that

         24  we can deliver those materials if you can't make it

         25  to those locations and, of course, the Central
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          2  Library has some replication of what is at the

          3  Business Library and it is probably why it is most

          4  appropriate in Queens too, because those are the

          5  locations that are opened the most hours. I think

          6  people connect in that way. But Business Libraries

          7  also tend to have a very specific audience that do

          8  not tend to go to our neighborhood libraries. Our

          9  Business Libraries have a certain reputation and

         10  draw people who are looking to continue their

         11  businesses or have support for their businesses and

         12  I'm sure you are aware of that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Excuse me.

         14                 MS. HARVIN: Our Business Library is

         15  in the heart of our business district in Brooklyn.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Right. I guess

         17  that is a good point too. Some of the business

         18  services whether it be a Barack Obama or someone of

         19  that nature, do they tend to use those services

         20  later in the day or after a typical work day because

         21  they may have another job. Do you see that? I'm

         22  curious that you are putting that out.

         23                 MS. HARVIN: Actually, I think we find

         24  at the Business Library, people tend to use the

         25  Business Library during the work hours because they
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          2  happen to be in the neighborhoods. I think people

          3  really appreciate having a lot of the workshops in

          4  the evening hours so if they are trying to start a

          5  new career, they can do their day job and actually

          6  make it to those types of programs. We try to make

          7  sure we have very early programs. We have programs

          8  that begin at 8:00 a.m. so we can have you out at

          9  work for 9:00 or 9:30 and have programs in late

         10  evenings as well.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Is that the

         12  same?

         13                 MS. COOPER: Yes, that's how we try to

         14  structure it. Again, I think our strength is really

         15  knowing the people and knowing who uses us and what

         16  their needs are in trying to shape our services to

         17  meet what works for them. I think what Dionne was

         18  saying that people do work certainly in Midtown and

         19  use the library during work times and are there as

         20  part of their work day, but then there are times

         21  when they want to come later in the evening or

         22  earlier in the morning to take advantage of other

         23  resources we may have.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: I've been to

         25  SIBL and I've seen the Power-Up Program too and very
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          2  impressive. The Power-Up Program, some of the

          3  businesses that have come out of that program, it is

          4  just really amazing that these people looking either

          5  for a different career or a second career or

          6  something else and the resources at SIBL, you can

          7  spend a lot time there. We ran some programs there

          8  with the City Council and it is great. I am just

          9  curious because I think all three systems have

         10  testified that you partner sometimes with other

         11  groups. Like you said, it was the Chamber in Queens

         12  that you do partnering. Is that something that you

         13  seek out or is it the other way around that other

         14  groups tend to want to use the library as the forum?

         15                 MR. GALANTE: It goes both ways. We do

         16  a lot of outreach work. We have full time staff who

         17  do this type of work that do a lot of work reaching

         18  out to bring people in. Some of these programs are

         19  grant funded where we have done work with the State

         20  and like the One Stop and some of other Job

         21  Information Center resources. And then we also have

         22  times where people approach us and are interested. I

         23  will use the Power- Up. It was done in Brooklyn, I

         24  guess, it was four years you mentioned that started

         25  and we just started that last year. It was brought
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          2  to us by the Citigroup folks as well as the Queens

          3  Economic Development Corporation because they had

          4  seen it was happening in Brooklyn and they brought

          5  that to us. So it does goes both ways. But we do

          6  also, I think, learned from each other that way too.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: And I guess the

          8  SCORE program is in Brooklyn and New York. I guess

          9  speaking of SCORE that comes at no cost to the

         10  systems. Right? Those are retired executives that

         11  volunteer their time and the only cost to you is to

         12  give them space. Is that correct? What materials do

         13  they use? Whatever resources they have to use?

         14                 MS. HARVIN: In our Business Library,

         15  they actually have a carved out space and it is

         16  actually like a point of reference desk. Most of the

         17  people who are there are very familiar with the

         18  resource of the library and they are able to connect

         19  with our on- line resources as well as print

         20  resources to actually make use of our resources and

         21  it is really another way to introduce what it is

         22  that we have to offer.

         23                 MR. LECLERC: At SIBL, the SCORE

         24  personnel have their own office. But adjacent to the

         25  main reference desk, so they are in a highly visible
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          2  place. And they can do one on one meetings with

          3  patrons and counsel them on drafting a business

          4  plan, on copyrighting ideas or trade marking issues.

          5  Their counselors are backed up by the professional

          6  expertise of the library staff who can lead them to

          7  the various kinds of materials either on- line or

          8  print so that they can actualize some of the ideas

          9  that have been proposed to them by the SCORE

         10  personnel. If they want to trademark something, a

         11  product that they are developing, if the SCORE

         12  person doesn't know all the legal technicalities to

         13  doing that, the library staff knows how to take, how

         14  to walk the patron through the very steps in getting

         15  a trademark or a patent or whatever else is

         16  necessary.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: And they can

         18  take them through that process?

         19                 MR. LECLERC: Yes. What's wonderful

         20  about library staff is how dedicated they are to

         21  getting patrons to the information that is most

         22  relevant to their needs. Librarians are magical in

         23  that way and that's their calling, that's their

         24  vocation and they do it with great, great dedication

         25  and real brilliance. It is too bad we can't really

                                                            45

          1  CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND LIBRARIES COMMITTEES

          2  in anyway accurately calculate the economic impact

          3  that we have on people getting jobs, starting

          4  businesses, changing careers, retooling themselves

          5  with new skills for a new kind work environment. But

          6  I would estimate, I think all of us would estimate,

          7  that the impact that we have in the City's economy

          8  is vast; unknown, but really huge because we are

          9  dealing with thousands and thousands of people a

         10  year at every level.

         11                 It could be an executive who has just

         12  been cycled out of a company where there has been a

         13  severe cutback and she or he needs to retool and

         14  find out what else is available for him or her at

         15  age 50, 55 or what have you. Or the recent

         16  immigrants who have to learn English and have to

         17  learn computer skills in order to make it in the

         18  information economy. We do all of that completely

         19  for free. It is a core part of our business and it

         20  is really important.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: I think just the

         22  brief contact I've had with the few programs that

         23  I've visited, just the success stories from those

         24  different programs are as you said probably

         25  multiplied over and over again in the course of time
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          2  everyday throughout our City. That's true. Hey. We

          3  welcome Council Member Leroy Comrie from Queens and

          4  it is certainly that is our little peanuts strip for

          5  Library Week. He can take that and read it. I must

          6  say, you mentioned about the appreciation of

          7  librarians and how they are so dedicated to finding

          8  people the information they need.

          9                 I've just in my own district

         10  conducted an essay contest through the schools of my

         11  district of what the Library Means to Me and in

         12  recognition of National Library Week. It was

         13  elementary school, middle school and high school and

         14  the recurring theme that you get by reading these

         15  essays, whether it be the young student or the high

         16  school student, is the theme that librarians are

         17  someone that they look up to and librarians are

         18  people that have been helpful to them in achieving

         19  whatever they wanted to achieve in the library. That

         20  is a recurring theme whether you are second grader

         21  or a tenth grader. I think you said the same thing

         22  basically here today.

         23                 MR. LECLERC: The library help me in

         24  finding out about jobs. Because when I was a

         25  graduate student at Columbia, I wanted to get my
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          2  first teaching job in a college and so I came to the

          3  Dunhill Library (phonetic) that at that point had

          4  all the catalogs of a new graduate colleges in the

          5  northeast and beyond that. So I looked through them

          6  all and like Mr. Obama decided on a few to write to

          7  and did that and wound up starting my career.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: That's great.

          9                 MR. LECLERC: So all of us have a

         10  special library story to tell, I think. What we do

         11  for New York and just New Yorkers is just phenomenal

         12  and if this budget finally gets negotiated the way

         13  we want it too, we are going to be able to just do a

         14  whole lot more by having more days and more hours.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Absolutely. We

         16  look forward to that. I know my colleague here is

         17  busy and just as the other members of the Committee,

         18  Council Member Comrie, if you want to vote on the

         19  resolution, you can do that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I'm happy to

         21  vote aye on the resolution and to congratulate the

         22  new head of the Brooklyn Library.

         23                 MS. HARVIN: Thank you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I haven't seen

         25  you since you assumed your new position and welcome
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          2  aboard as in a member or fully being appointed. I'm

          3  glad to see that they had the good sense to make

          4  your permanent. Whatever we can do to be helpful,

          5  I've tried to be helpful in this budget so far and

          6  I'd like to see that six day a week fully funded

          7  this year. That is my personal desire and I hope

          8  that will be a general desire by the end of the

          9  budget.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Spread the word.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I'm going to

         12  do my best to spread the word with the Mayor's

         13  Office. I just wanted to say that I had a chance to

         14  go to the Central Library in Queens last weekend,

         15  the weekend before last and while the library was

         16  totally fully occupied, there was also three

         17  different events going on. There was an immigration

         18  event that was going on and in one part of the

         19  subbasement, an empowerment event for women that was

         20  going on and in another part of the sub basement and

         21  an exhibition which was going on which I never found

         22  because I didn't realize it was in more than one

         23  part of the library and I couldn't through the

         24  library because people were stopping me and I wound

         25  up having a suboffice right on the main floor there.
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          2                 To diminish the need for library

          3  service by anyone in this time and age is just penny

          4  wise and pound foolish. The need for libraries and

          5  the natural attraction for libraries to be just a

          6  resource for all people especially in a City as

          7  diversified as this one cannot be overstated and

          8  whatever we can do promote that and announce that

          9  and let people know, you can have my full support. I

         10  think that without 24 hour libraries, we diminish

         11  ourselves as a City in many different ways. With

         12  that, I am happy to say yes to the Resolution and to

         13  also continue my pledge to do whatever I can to be

         14  an active supporter of the library system. Thank

         15  you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: I must say in

         17  that our discussions about library service,

         18  Councilman Comrie has been in forefront in talking

         19  to me about the fact that it  really is during the

         20  hardest times that the City has faced and during

         21  depression years that the library was always a

         22  priority. We're open even during the hardest times

         23  that we faced and reminded me of that. That was an

         24  inspiration to me. I thank you, Councilman Comrie

         25  for inspiring me and also helping to lead the charge
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          2  for increased library service in our City. Thank

          3  you. Did you sign?

          4                 Just one other thought and then we

          5  will wrap it up. We have one more witness to speak.

          6  Do you have it? I noticed, I think Mr. Galante, in

          7  your testimony and maybe in others, you talked about

          8  having programs offered in other languages, but also

          9  ESOL program, English as the Second Language. I'm

         10  wondering from the job resource perspective, how do

         11  you approach that? What do you emphasize first?

         12  English as the second language or offering the

         13  programs in other languages?

         14                 MR. GALANTE: What we tend to find is

         15  new immigrants who are coming into this country tend

         16  to -- I can give a number of examples where they

         17  entered in this country within one day of being

         18  here, they were in the library and they have been

         19  told about, go to the local library from their

         20  native country as the place to go. If someone is

         21  first stepping into this country and they don't know

         22  English, that often times is their best first step

         23  is to come to the library, learn English and in

         24  three to six months, they can have a basic grasp of

         25  English of reading and writing which gives you a
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          2  right opportunity to then being able to look through

          3  the paper, find jobs, work with our staff on the Job

          4  Information Centers and so forth. I would consider

          5  that to be a first step. If you are brand new in the

          6  country and you have no knowledge of English, that

          7  usually is a great first step.

          8                 Those who have a good handle on the

          9  English language, obviously, I think moving into a

         10  more advanced method and our staff have a number of

         11  methods that they use to really help people for any

         12  level of job and we also do a lot of work with the

         13  State Department of Labor. We receive a number of

         14  grants through the State that help support these

         15  programs and we can always use a lot more as you all

         16  know. The One Stop in Jamaica is an example of that

         17  where the State created this environment for people

         18  to come in and seek jobs and were a part of that

         19  structure and that set up there. I think all of us,

         20  it is just a matter of hours. We have our 63

         21  libraries always be assessable 24 hours a day, I

         22  like that one, right, 24 hours a day. But then also

         23  to be able to have, I mean I can't -- it has to be

         24  at least every week or two.

         25                 I'm turning down something that we
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          2  would love to do that we know would made an impact

          3  on people's lives because the money isn't there. A

          4  lot of these things are outreach activities, but I

          5  can't justify adding more services of a certain

          6  location or putting in a subway library here that we

          7  had looked at and wanted to do, but it became too

          8  costly. Even things like a teen center which you

          9  could say is a Job Information Center in itself with

         10  letting kids being able to get on computer, do their

         11  homework and help develop their skills.

         12                 We had something out in the far

         13  Rockaway's where our current library, we have 100 to

         14  150 teens that come in after school each day in a

         15  7,000 square foot library. Now if you could just try

         16  to picture that in addition to adults and young

         17  kids, right. We wanted to find a way to ease that

         18  overcrowding and we know that we could get hundreds

         19  more, but there isn't just more to come in. The

         20  decision was do we create someone to have them at

         21  the door, you line up and take a ticket to be able

         22  to come in because it is not safe having more come

         23  in or do we find a way to do a quick rental or

         24  something.

         25                 We found a place and it is going to
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          2  run about $300,000 a year for us to create a team

          3  library outside of the existing library one block

          4  away. It is short distance; 3,000 square feet and we

          5  were all excited about going down this way and then

          6  as we got the numbers together, it became larger and

          7  larger in cost. Okay, we will need three or four

          8  people. We will supplies. We need to have books. And

          9  before you know it, okay, that idea has to be set to

         10  the side again. I could probably give you one of

         11  these examples in just about every community in how

         12  we really could make a much bigger difference. The

         13  impact that we make now is wonderful. The libraries

         14  do a lot of great work. But we really could do a lot

         15  more if the funding was there at any level.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: It sounds like

         17  you are waiting to break out of the cocoon.

         18                 MR. GALANTE: Always trying to break

         19  out of the cocoon.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Do any of the

         21  other systems want to just comment about whether do

         22  you have programs in other languages and whether how

         23  that coincides with your ESOL programs?

         24                 MS. COOPER: Yes, we do offer computer

         25  classes in Spanish and in Chinese. I think what the

                                                            54

          1  CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND LIBRARIES COMMITTEES

          2  situation you have there is if somebody is really

          3  trying to learn a skill and is not really

          4  comfortable in English yet, that this is a way for

          5  them to get the skill that they need which would be

          6  the facility using a computer and at the same time,

          7  they are also learning English. But this way, they

          8  get the skill in a way that's comfortable for them

          9  to learn and process the information while we are

         10  trying to also have them participate in the English

         11  for speakers of other language classes so that they

         12  can get their proficiency up. I think they work

         13  together in that regard.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: So someone could

         15  actually be enrolled in both?

         16                 MS. COOPER: Absolutely.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Okay.

         18                 MR. GALANTE: ESOL, you should know to

         19  on the demand issue, and I'm sure this is a case for

         20  all of us, I would think, we have 3,000 people that

         21  go through this program. We don't advertise it. If

         22  we advertise, we would have 15 to 20,000. It was

         23  about ten years ago, we used to have a process. You

         24  would enroll for the semester. This was back when we

         25  were open six or seven days a week. You would enroll

                                                            55

          1  CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND LIBRARIES COMMITTEES

          2  for the semester. It was enrolling at Central

          3  Library. People started camping out the night before

          4  to get into a class to learn how to read and write

          5  in English.

          6                 It got violent a few times with

          7  people trying to get to the front of the line. We

          8  had to go to basically a lottery type system where

          9  you put your name in and whether your name gets

         10  pulled. If you think about it, in a City like this,

         11  people should be able to learn how to read and write

         12  in English if they want too as opposed to leaving it

         13  up to the odds of a lottery. More hours of service

         14  and that involves the language skills, Job

         15  Information Center. That's just a core thing that we

         16  do.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: It's amazing.

         18  Because maybe if the media covered the fact that

         19  people were camping out to try to get into a

         20  library, there would be more pressure to open those

         21  libraries. They will do it when they camp out to get

         22  tickets at Yankee Stadium or Shea Stadium or at a

         23  rock concert. They will go and film those people

         24  waiting to get those tickets. But when they are

         25  camping out and getting even rough with each other
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          2  because they want to get first in library and learn

          3  English or how to get a job, that's something the

          4  media just bypasses. I think that's a shame. The

          5  pressure would actually help us.

          6                 I want to thank all of you for

          7  joining us here this afternoon and certainly next

          8  week for National Library Week, I know that it is a

          9  special week to say thanks not only to the

         10  administrators, but to all the librarians and all

         11  the staff and certainly the unions represent those

         12  employees, because I think together the systems that

         13  we have in New York City despite all the hard times

         14  and all the constraints, do a wonderful job. And I'm

         15  just amazed as I travel and I think I'm going to

         16  Harlem. When I am going to Harlem? Are we ready on

         17  that one? Okay. I think that's my next stop there.

         18                 It was amazing to me as I go around

         19  the five boroughs to see the real dedication, the

         20  real sincerity in getting the mission done under

         21  really difficult circumstances in many times. I

         22  thank all of you. I thank everyone from the

         23  employees on up to the administrators and directors.

         24  Thank you so much for being here today. Our next

         25  witness is Kathy Casey. She is testifying on behalf
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          2  of herself. Kathy will have three minutes and then

          3  any questions.

          4                 MS. CASEY: Good afternoon. My name is

          5  Kathy Casey. I was a librarian in the Queens Borough

          6  Library System for one year and a senior librarian

          7  in a branch library of the New York Public Library

          8  for six years. I apologize for being so late today.

          9  It really was unavoidable and I appreciate you

         10  letting me testify.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: That's fine.

         12  Absolutely.

         13                 MS. CASEY: Because the Committee

         14  schedule and mine don't necessarily mesh well in the

         15  interest of timeliness, I wanted to take advantage

         16  of this positive opportunity today to suggest an

         17  additional resolution that perhaps the members of

         18  the Committee and other Council Members would like

         19  to introduce and sponsor. That is, there is a

         20  resolution, an identical resolution both in the New

         21  York State Assembly and in the New York State Senate

         22  to amend the New York State education law to provide

         23  annual funding to the library of the general society

         24  of mechanics and tradesmen which is an organization

         25  founded in 1795. And the library was founded in
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          2  1820.

          3                 It is a not- for- profit organization

          4  that is what is called a subscription library.

          5  People have memberships for a low fee. The library

          6  serves the students in the Mechanics Institute which

          7  is an ongoing free school for people, men and women

          8  employed in the construction trades, but at the same

          9  time, the library is rather like the New York

         10  Historical Society. Although, not as comprehensive,

         11  I would say. It has many valuable books going back

         12  to at least the early 19th century.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Where is it

         14  located?

         15                 MS. CASEY: It is located at 20 West

         16  44th Street on the same block with the Algonquin

         17  Hotel and the Harbor Club and the Princeton Club;

         18  quite centrally located. These bills were introduced

         19  last year into the State legislature. Assembly

         20  Member Richard Gottfried was the primary initiator

         21  and they both have been introduced in both houses

         22  this year with sponsors including Senator Liz

         23  Krueger. I believe that Senator Tom Duane supports

         24  this bill also and the Chairperson of the State

         25  Senate Library Committee, Hugh Farley of
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          2  Schenectady.

          3                 I'm simply suggesting and requesting

          4  that the City Council Committee and other Council

          5  Members introduce a resolution in support of passage

          6  of this bill. The amount of the allocation would be

          7  $200,000 annually. Similar amendments already have

          8  been made and the payments are in existence for the

          9  Schaumburg Library and for the New York Historical

         10  Society Library and in fact for the SIBL Library of

         11  The New York Public Library and also for the, I'm

         12  got to think of the right title now. I can't quite

         13  get it right now.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: That's fine.

         15                 MS. CASEY: I believe it is the center

         16  for Jewish History on West 16th Street. They have

         17  all achieved funding by the same method and in fact,

         18  they are all receiving considerably more than

         19  $200,000 a year. As someone who has used library

         20  quite a bit for decades, for research in New York

         21  history and also back in 1980 and '81, when I was

         22  working on my masters degree in Library Science, I

         23  did an independent study and research paper as to

         24  whether this particular library was viable in the

         25  20th century and into the 21st century. I have a
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          2  long relationship there and I'm very familiar with

          3  the excellent leadership and management they have. I

          4  would highly recommend that the Council support this

          5  State legislative issue.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Do you happen to

          7  have the numbers of those introductions?

          8                 MS. CASEY: Yes, sorry I meant to say

          9  that. It is State Senate 899 and State Assembly

         10  2052. Those are the ones for the current session.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Okay.

         12                 MS. CASEY: They had different numbers

         13  last year.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: If you have a

         15  copy of your testimony, you can leave it with us.

         16                 MS. CASEY: I unfortunately have one

         17  copy, but I will be glad to leave it with you or the

         18  relevant information and contact people.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: I appreciate it.

         20                 MS. CASEY: Thank you very much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Thank you, Ms.

         22  Casey.

         23                 MS. CASEY: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Thank you for

         25  coming in and making it in. Thank you so much.
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          2  Seeing no others, I am calling this hearing to a

          3  close.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 3:05 p.m.)
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